



Enforcement Guidelines

December 2021

© Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority 2021

Ownership of intellectual property rights in this publication

Unless otherwise noted, copyright (and any other intellectual property rights, if any) in this publication is owned by the Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority (APVMA).

Creative Commons licence

With the exception of the Coat of Arms and other elements specifically identified, this publication is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Licence. This is a standard form agreement that allows you to copy, distribute, transmit and adapt this publication provided that you attribute the work.



A <u>summary of the licence terms</u> and <u>full licence terms</u> are available from Creative Commons.

The APVMA's preference is that you attribute this publication (and any approved material sourced from it) using the following wording:

Source: Licensed from the Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority (APVMA) under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Australia Licence. The APVMA does not necessarily endorse the content of this publication.

In referencing this document the Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority should be cited as the author, publisher and copyright owner.

Photographic credits

Cover image: iStockphoto (istockphoto.com)

iStockphoto images are not covered by this Creative Commons licence.

Use of the Coat of Arms

The terms under which the Coat of Arms can be used are set out on the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet website.

Disclaimer

The material in or linking from this report may contain the views or recommendations of third parties. Third party material does not necessarily reflect the views of the APVMA, or indicate a commitment to a particular course of action. There may be links in this document that will transfer you to external websites. The APVMA does not have responsibility for these websites, nor does linking to or from this document constitute any form of endorsement. The APVMA is not responsible for any errors, omissions or matters of interpretation in any third-party information contained within this document.

Comments and enquiries regarding copyright:

Assistant Director, Communications
Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority
GPO Box 3262
Sydney NSW 2001 Australia

Telephone: +61 2 6770 2300

Email: communications@apvma.gov.au.

This publication is available from the APVMA website.

Contents

Introduction	1
Purpose	1
Procedure	2
Principles	3
Factors not relevant to deciding whether to take enforcement action	3
Who enforcement action will be taken against	4
Identification of offenders	4
Notification	4
Corporate liability	5
Liability of employees and contractors	5
Liability of executive officers	5
Unlawful suppliers	6
Liability of external administrators	6
Choice of enforcement action	8
Determining seriousness of a contravention of legislation	8
Objectives of legislation	8
Impact	8
Culpability	9
Choice of enforcement action	12
Formal warnings	14
Infringement notices	15
Administrative actions	16
Civil proceedings for court orders	17
Enforceable undertakings	18
Prosecution	19
The decision to refer to the CDPP for consideration of criminal proceedings	19
Public interest considerations	19
Choice of charges	20
Suspension or cancellation of licence, permit or authority	21

List of tables

Table 1:	Criteria to be considered in determining impact of the contravention	10
Table 2:	Criteria to be considered in determining culpability of the alleged offender	11

Introduction

The Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority (APVMA) is Australia's national regulator of agricultural and veterinary (agvet) chemicals, and the lead agency for the investigation of allegations of non-compliance with Australia's Agvet Laws. The APVMA's functions are set out in Part 2, Section 7 of the *Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals (Administration) Act 1992* (Cth).

The APVMA operates under an Intergovernmental Agreement between the Commonwealth Government and all states and territories. Under this agreement, the APVMA manages regulation in support of the supply of safe and effective agricultural and veterinary chemicals in Australia. The APVMA's regulatory responsibility extends from registration, manufacturing and importation through to the point of sale.

Compliance and monitoring powers in the Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals Code scheduled to the Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals Code Act 1994 (Cth) (Agvet Code) provide a mechanism for the APVMA to undertake compliance activities to ensure the continued safety and effectiveness of a registered product and address unregistered products. State and territory governments are responsible for regulating and monitoring how chemicals are used.

To build a culture of compliance – where individuals, business and industry take responsibility for ensuring that their activities do not cause unlawful impacts – the APVMA will sometimes need to take enforcement action. Enforcement action provides a strong deterrent to non-compliance.

The effective protection of human health, animal health, the health of the environment, protection of Australia's trade interests, as well as good regulatory practice, calls for the APVMA to have clear guidelines governing the taking of enforcement action. These Enforcement Guidelines (Guidelines) set out the APVMA's approach to its enforcement activities.

To the extent possible in the circumstances, it is the goal of the APVMA's enforcement responses to:

- reinforce legal obligations under legislation
- achieve outcomes consistent with legislation
- deter non-compliant behaviour
- apply consistent and proportionate enforcement action.

The Guidelines are intended to contribute to the APVMA meeting its obligations under the Commonwealth Government Regulator Performance Guide.

Purpose

These Guidelines assist the APVMA in making decisions about taking enforcement action under legislation administered by the APVMA. The Guidelines set out principles of a general nature to provide an understanding of how the APVMA will approach enforcement activities.

The APVMA publishes its Guidelines as part of its commitment to transparency in its compliance activities, and to educate the regulated community and the public about the APVMA's expectations and compliance approach.

People and businesses who have specific obligations under legislation administered by the APVMA are encouraged to familiarise themselves with these Guidelines.

It is important to acknowledge that these Guidelines are not made under section 6A of the Agvet Code and are not directions. They are designed to assist the making of enforcement decisions to achieve consistency, efficiency, effectiveness and transparency in the administration of legislation by the APVMA.

These Guidelines outline the objectives that the APVMA will pursue to promote voluntary compliance, change non-compliant behaviour and deter illegal activities affecting the import, manufacture and supply of agricultural and veterinary chemical products.

Procedure

The APVMA will assess all notifications it receives of possible contraventions of the legislation it administers. Based on these notifications and any associated investigations, the APVMA will make decisions as to the appropriate response. This process is supported by the APVMA Case Categorisation and Prioritisation Model (CCPM).

In some cases, the decision may be to take no action, and to instead provide advice, guidance or assistance to help a person comply with the legislation. In other cases, it may be necessary for the APVMA to take enforcement action in response to a contravention of the legislation.

In these Guidelines, enforcement action includes any action taken to address a contravention of legislation administered by the APVMA, to deter or prevent a person or persons from committing future contraventions of legislation, or to require someone to remedy or stop committing a contravention of legislation.

The range of enforcement actions available to the APVMA in the legislation include:

- formal warnings
- infringement notices
- administrative notices and orders made under legislation
- proceedings for court orders provided for under legislation
- prosecution
- suspension or cancellation of a registration, approval, permit, licence or authority.

From time to time, the APVMA may become aware of matters that are alleged offences against legislation it administers, and which are also alleged offences against legislation administered by another government agency. In these circumstances, the following principles will apply:

The APVMA may consult the other agency to determine which agency should lead any investigation, and
which agency would be the appropriate agency to take any enforcement action. There may be circumstances
in which it is appropriate for a joint investigation to take place, and for each agency to take its own
enforcement action.

- The APVMA may be the appropriate agency to lead an investigation or take enforcement action where one or more of the following applies:
 - The subject matter is more closely aligned with the APVMA's responsibilities than that of the other agency.
 - Enforcement action by the APVMA would more effectively prevent or remedy the contravention and its impacts.
 - The penalties that apply for the alleged offence under the legislation administered by the APVMA reflect the seriousness of the alleged offending more accurately than the penalties under the other agency's legislation.
- The APVMA will refer a matter to another government agency for investigation or enforcement action where the matter is within the devolved responsibility of that government agency.
- Where dishonesty or certain other types of criminal offences are alleged, the APVMA may refer the matter to the Australian Federal Police or other authorities as appropriate.

Principles

The following principles guide the APVMA in making decisions about taking enforcement action:

- Enforcement action will be proportionate to the seriousness of the contravention.
- Decisions about enforcement action will be impartial, based on the available evidence and the strategic objectives of the APVMA.
- Where enforcement action involves litigation, the APVMA is bound to act as a model litigant under the Legal Services Directions 2017 (Cth), which require the APVMA to act with complete propriety, fairly and in accordance with the highest professional standards.

The APVMA is guided by the principle that enforcement action must not be taken for improper purposes. Further, enforcement action should not be avoided because it presents challenges, is difficult or the outcome is not certain. Sometimes, a number of enforcement actions may be taken in combination (the matter <u>Australian Competition and Consumer Commission v Colgate-Palmolive Pty Ltd (No 5) [2021] FCA 246 refers).</u>

Factors not relevant to deciding whether to take enforcement action

A decision on whether or not to take enforcement action will not be influenced by factors such as:

- the alleged offender's gender, ethnicity, nationality, political associations, religion or beliefs
- the alleged offender's affiliation, involvement or membership of any group
- an APVMA employee's personal feelings towards the alleged offender or the victim
- · possible political advantage or disadvantage to a government or any political group or party
- the possible effect of the decision on the personal or professional circumstances of those responsible for the decision.

Who enforcement action will be taken against

One of the main aims of parliament in making a contravention of the law a criminal offence is to create a deterrent. By extending criminal liability to many people (for example, directors and managers of corporations), the law generates increased awareness and responsibility for legal obligations within corporate structures and throughout the community.

Situations can arise where a number of people may be responsible for the commission of an offence and may therefore be liable for enforcement action. The APVMA recognises that it may not always be appropriate to take enforcement action against every person who may have committed an offence.

The following sections set out what the APVMA will consider when determining who enforcement action may be taken against.

Identification of offenders

In determining who was responsible for an offence, the APVMA will take the following considerations into account:

- Who was primarily responsible for the offence, that is:
 - who committed the act
 - · who formed the intention (if relevant)
 - · who created the material circumstances leading to the commission of the offence
 - who benefited from the offence.
- What was the role of each alleged offender (where there is more than one alleged offender).

Notification

The APVMA will also take into account any notification from an alleged offender. In this regard, the APVMA will specifically consider whether:

- the alleged offender promptly notified the APVMA of the contravention
- the information assisted in the control or mitigation of any impacts
- the information substantially aided the APVMA's investigation of the incident
- the information was available from other sources
- a statutory obligation to make a notification exists
- the notification occurred prior to the APVMA or any other regulatory body obtaining knowledge of the contravention.

Corporate liability

Corporations as well as individuals can be liable for offences against the legislation. Where an offence is alleged to have been committed by employees, agents or officers of a corporation in the course of their employment, proceedings will usually be commenced against the corporation. The existence and effective implementation of any training and compliance programs of the organisation will also be considered.

Where, however, the employee, agent or officer is alleged to have committed an offence of their own volition, outside the scope of their employment or authority, proceedings may be instituted against the employee, agent or officer and not against the corporation.

Liability of employees and contractors

Employees' obligations under the legislation cannot be overridden by an instruction from their employer – it is not a defence for an employee to assert that he or she was acting under direction from a supervisor, although this may be a consideration and a mitigating factor in sentencing or choice of appropriate enforcement action. This principle equally applies to contractors. Therefore, the guiding principle in deciding whether to pursue an employee or a contractor is their degree of culpability or responsibility.

In addition to the principles set out in section 1.3, factors to be considered in assessing the degree of culpability include:

- Whether the employee or contractor knew or should have known that the activity was likely to be illegal or inappropriate
- The seniority of the employee and the scope of their duties
- Whether, having regard to the employee's seniority and employment duties or the contractor's contract, the
 employee or contractor had taken reasonable steps to draw to the attention of the employer or any other
 relevant person the impropriety of the practice
- Whether the employee or contractor has taken reasonable steps to mitigate or prevent any impacts (if it was in the employee's or contractor's power to do so).

Liability of executive officers

Most of the legislation administered by the APVMA contains provisions extending liability for offences committed by a corporation to its executive officers.

When determining whether to take enforcement action against an executive officer in accordance with such a provision, a key consideration will be whether the person had actual control or influence over the conduct of the corporation in a relevant respect.

Generally, the APVMA will take enforcement action under the executive officer liability provisions only where evidence links the person with the corporation's illegal activity. That evidence may show, for example, that the executive officer:

- intended to engage in the action or omission
- was negligent or reckless with respect to the action or omission
- intended to deceive the APVMA
- failed to monitor or periodically assess and manage risks associated with the corporation's relevant activities
 or review supporting systems and programs.

Further considerations include whether the executive officer:

- was in a position to influence the corporation's conduct
- took all reasonable steps to ensure that the corporation complied with the law.

The APVMA may take the view that reasonable steps were taken to ensure that the corporation complied with the law where it can be demonstrated the executive officer ensured that:

- the corporation had an effective risk management system in place which was aimed at ensuring compliance with relevant legislative requirements
- all staff were aware of the system
- the system had been effectively implemented throughout the corporation
- the system was regularly reviewed and was amended when necessary.

Unlawful suppliers

When determining the appropriate enforcement action against companies or individuals supplying agricultural or veterinary chemical products without the necessary approvals or registrations ('unlawful suppliers'), the following principles will be applied:

- The APVMA's first priority is to ensure that any risk of harm or impacts from an unlawful supplier are appropriately managed.
- The APVMA will work cooperatively with other regulators who may also have responsibility for regulating the
 unlawful activity (for example, an unlawful manufacturing site may have failed to obtain approval from a work
 health safety regulator as well as approval from the APVMA).
- The APVMA will take account of the level of competitive advantage enjoyed by the unlawful supplier.

In rare cases, the APVMA may defer enforcement action until an unlawful supplier has had the opportunity to obtain an approval or registration and operate lawfully. However, in most cases, some type of enforcement action will be taken in response to an unlawful supplier.

Liability of external administrators

In terms of ensuring compliance with legislation administered by the APVMA, external administrators (including liquidators, receivers and managers and administrators) who are responsible for the management of a corporation will be subject to the same considerations as other executive officers. External administrators who assume control

of a corporation and become aware of activities or conduct that contravenes legislation administered by the APVMA should ensure that the activity or conduct ceases and that the APVMA is informed of the activity or conduct.

External administrators should also ensure that the company complies with any notices or orders given to the company by the APVMA to the extent possible, given the provisions of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth).

Choice of enforcement action

Determining seriousness of a contravention of legislation

The APVMA determines the seriousness of a contravention of legislation by reference to 4 general considerations:

- 1. The objectives of the relevant legislation including the nature of the offence and type of impact the offence provision is designed to deter or prevent.
- 2. The actual or potential impact of the offence.
- 3. The level of culpability of the alleged offender.
- 4. The financial or other benefit received from the contravention.

The seriousness of the contravention of the legislation will inform the decision on the appropriate enforcement action taken in response to the offence. This Guideline sets out five levels of seriousness for contraventions of legislation: low, minor, moderate, major and serious.

Outlined below are some criteria which can be used to assist the APVMA in assessing the level of seriousness of a contravention. The Tables 1 and 2 regarding the impacts of the offence and the level of culpability of the alleged offender indicate the seriousness of the offence.

Objectives of legislation

The objectives or purpose of any legislation are generally outlined at the beginning of the legislation and provide context to the following legislative provisions. To determine the purpose of the particular offence provision, often it is useful to refer to both the objectives of the legislation and to other documents such as the explanatory notes or parliamentary speeches.

The seriousness with which the legislature views an offence may often be apparent by maximum penalty or class of offence assigned to it in the legislation. Where legislation designates levels or classes of offence, this will be considered in deciding the appropriate enforcement response.

Impact

The impact of an offence can be characterised by reference to the effects or consequences of the offence and also by reference to the act or omission the offence provision has been designed to prevent or deter (see the objectives of the legislation discussed above).

To determine the level of impact, for example for the offence of contravention of a condition of an approval or registration, reference may be made to the level and extent of impact on the safety or health of people, animals, the environment or trade resulting from the contravention.

An offence not involving safety, trade, efficacy or licensing impacts, for example for the offence of providing false or misleading information to the APVMA, may be characterised as an administrative offence. This does not mean that the offence is not serious. For example, the provision of false or misleading information or returns to the

APVMA seriously undermines its ability to effectively administer its legislation. Examples of other administrative offences include:

- failure to comply with the duty to notify
- a contravention that undermines a legislative scheme (e.g., failure to pay registration or other fees or levies etc.)
- the provision of false or misleading statements in relation to analysis, certificates, import information or the origin of chemical product
- the provision of false or misleading statements in applications or other material submitted to the APVMA
- failures in respect of approval or registration conditions that relate to reporting or the keeping of documents.

There may be some overlap between administrative and other types of offences.

Five levels of impacts have been developed to assist the APVMA in classifying the seriousness of an alleged offence and to inform a decision on the appropriate enforcement response (refer to Table 1 – Criteria to be considered in determining impact of contravention). These levels also include the risk or potential impact of an alleged offence.

If an alleged offence satisfies criteria across a range of the impact levels, generally, it will be assigned the highest applicable level. For example, if there is an incident which has caused permanent impacts on the people, animals, the environment or trade (which falls into the serious level), but the level of public concern is low (which falls into the minor level), the matter will be regarded as serious.

Culpability

Culpability refers to the blame and responsibility of the alleged offender for the alleged offence. Three levels of culpability have been developed which, along with the levels of impact, will assist the APVMA in classifying the seriousness of an alleged offence and therefore determine the appropriate enforcement response (refer to Table 2 – Criteria to be considered in determining the culpability of alleged offender).

If an alleged offender has satisfied criteria across a range of the levels, the most serious category will be assigned.

Table 1: Criteria to be considered in determining impact of the contravention

Impact	5	4	3	2	1
	Serious impact or risk	Major impact or risk of	Moderate impact or risk of	Minor impact or risk of	Low impact or risk of
	of impact	impact	impact	impact	impact
	Permanent, or potential for permanent, long-term impact Impact is on or potentially on a widescale, or of great intensity Widespread or high level of public concern or impact to public safety, animal safety, the environment or trade Where alleged offence is of an administrative nature, it severely undermines the legislative scheme or the offender provides false or misleading information	Medium to long-term impact, or potential impact Impact is on or potentially on a medium to wide-scale, or of medium to great intensity High level of public concern or impact to public safety, animal safety, the environment or trade Where the alleged offence is of an administrative nature, it undermines the legislative scheme or the offender conceals information or avoids liability for fees or taking necessary actions to prevent alleged offence	Temporary to medium-term impact, or potential impact Impact is on or potential impact Impact is on or potentially on a localised to medium scale, or is of a low to medium intensity Moderate level of public concern or impact to public safety, animal safety, the environment or trade Where the alleged offence is of an administrative nature, it has a moderate impact on the legislative scheme, or the offender carelessly fails to comply with administrative requirement	 Transient impact, or potential impact Impact is on or potentially on a localised scale, or is of a low intensity Low level of public concern or impact to public safety, animal safety, the environment or trade Where the alleged offence is of an administrative nature, it has no impact on the legislative scheme or is of an inadvertent nature 	No impact, or potential impact No public concern or impact to public safety, animal safety, the environment or trade Where the alleged offence is of an administrative nature, it could not have been prevented

Table 2: Criteria to be considered in determining culpability of the alleged offender

Culpability	3	2	1
	Serious culpability	Moderate culpability	Low culpability
Canpusinty			

Choice of enforcement action

The APVMA will exercise its discretion to take any enforcement action it considers appropriate in the circumstances, taking into account the seriousness of the contravention of the legislation.

The objective of some enforcement actions may be considered punitive, whilst others may be aimed at preventing, deterring or rectifying impacts of offences. Some enforcement actions do both; for example, a prosecution may result in a fine (being punitive or a deterrent) and orders to take remedial action to mitigate any impact.

There are 7 general categories of enforcement actions available to the APVMA:

- 1. Formal warnings
- 2. Infringement notices
- 3. Administrative notices and orders made under legislation
- 4. Proceedings for court orders provided for under legislation
- 5. Enforceable undertakings
- 6. Prosecution
- 7. Suspension or cancellation of approval, registration, permit, licence or authority

The choice of the enforcement action will be determined by reference to the seriousness of the contravention of legislation and the desired outcome having regard to the facts and circumstances of each matter. As a guide:

- warning letters are generally reserved for low or minor contraventions
- infringement notices for minor contraventions
- administrative notices and orders (with the exception of cancellation of approvals, registrations, licences or permits) for moderate to serious contraventions
- enforceable undertakings are considered to be an alternative enforcement action for moderate contraventions
- court orders, prosecutions and cancellation of approvals, registrations, permits or licences are generally reserved for major or serious contraventions of legislation.

The taking of a particular administrative action by the APVMA does not preclude it from taking other enforcement action (including other administrative actions). In order to properly and effectively address contraventions of the legislation, a number of enforcement actions may need to be taken either simultaneously or over time as part of a strategy for addressing the offending conduct and achieving the desired regulatory outcome.

For example, it may be appropriate to issue a recall notice to a person to locate and destroy all stocks of unregistered chemical products that they have supplied. However, this administrative action does not prevent the APVMA from prosecuting the person for the unlawful supply of unregistered chemical products. In this example, the recall notice informs the necessary steps to rectify and prevent the further unlawful supply and use of an unregistered product, whilst a prosecution will punish and deter the conduct that resulted in the unlawful supply.

In some situations, it may not be appropriate to take more than one enforcement action in response to a situation. When deciding whether to take or not take administrative action, the APVMA will comply with the requirements of the legislation that authorises the action, the principles of natural justice and any other requirements of a lawful administrative decision.

Formal warnings

Formal warnings are provided for in legislation and represent an enforcement response that the APVMA may take in relation to minor contraventions of legislation.

Formal warnings should be used for minor contraventions of the APVMA's legislation, involving little or no impact and where the offender has a low level of culpability. They are not appropriate for ongoing or repeated minor contraventions. However, formal warnings may be appropriate where the imposition of a financial penalty is not considered appropriate, for a first contravention or in relation to a contravention that is easily remedied.

Infringement notices

The APVMA <u>Infringement Notice Guideline</u> has been made under section 6A of the Agvet Code. It provides further information about the legislative provisions relevant to infringement notices, and information about the APVMA's functions and powers in relation to infringement notices.

If a person elects to contest an infringement notice, the APVMA will review the matter, including any submissions made by the person, to determine an appropriate outcome. This includes considering commencing civil or criminal proceedings.

If a person who contests an infringement notice is prosecuted and found guilty, the court may impose a penalty higher than the amount of the infringement notice and may order the payment of costs and the recording of a conviction.

Administrative actions

Administrative actions are enforcement actions that include the range of notices and orders that the APVMA may issue under legislation it administers, in order to secure compliance with obligations under that legislation. They are generally used to remedy contraventions of the legislation.

Administrative actions differ from prosecutions and infringement notices as they are usually aimed at preventing or rectifying a contravention, while prosecutions and infringement notices are usually aimed at punishing or deterring unlawful conduct.

Some of the administrative actions available to the APVMA include issuing a recall notice, issuing an enforceable direction, and requiring a person to respond to a substantiation notice.

The APVMA may take an administrative action where it is:

- the most effective means of preventing or rectifying breaches of the legislation or regulatory scheme
- reasonable and proportionate in light of all of the relevant circumstances.

Civil proceedings for court orders

Most of the legislation administered by the APVMA enables it to apply for civil penalty orders requiring a person who is alleged to have contravened a civil penalty provision to pay a pecuniary penalty. Applications for civil penalty orders are generally appropriate in circumstances where there has been a major or serious contravention of the legislation.

These applications are civil proceedings (governed by civil procedures and burden of proof) as opposed to criminal proceedings. In commencing and conducting proceedings for civil penalty orders, the APVMA will act as a model litigant as required by the Legal Services Directions 2017 (Cth).

The APVMA may also apply for an injunction to restrain someone from engaging in conduct that constitutes an offence against the Agvet Code or a contravention of a civil penalty provision of the legislation it administers and ask the court to make orders requiring the person to take certain actions.

The APVMA may commence proceedings for such orders where:

- sufficient evidence exists to satisfy the requirements of the legislation under which the proceedings are to be brought
- the APVMA has reasonable prospects of success
- the orders sought by the APVMA will likely address the offending behaviour or the consequences of the contravention.

Should a court order be contravened, the APVMA will consider commencing further proceedings in accordance with these Guidelines and the legislation to address non-compliance.

Enforceable undertakings

An enforceable undertaking is a written agreement between the APVMA and a person which can require the person to carry out a wide range of actions to achieve compliance with the Agvet Code. Enforceable undertakings must be published on the APVMA website.

It can be initiated by a person where there has been a contravention of the Agvet Code or Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals Code Regulations 1995 (Cth), or to ensure that an offence is not committed, or a civil penalty provision contravened.

An enforceable undertaking does not require an admission to be made in relation to a contravention.

Prosecution

Prosecution is included by the legislature as an outcome of the commission of particular offences, and accordingly is part of the APVMA's strategy for achieving its legislative and policy objectives. Prosecutions may be an appropriate enforcement action in response to ongoing, major or serious contraventions of the legislation.

However, as outlined in these Guidelines, prosecution is usually not the only enforcement action available and, if an alternative to prosecution may be more effective in achieving the objects of the legislation, then the APVMA will carefully consider that alternative. Where prosecution is considered appropriate, alleged offences against Commonwealth law will be referred to the Commonwealth Director of Public Prosecutions (CDPP) for assessment against the <u>Prosecution Policy of the Commonwealth</u>.

The decision to refer to the CDPP for consideration of criminal proceedings

The decision to refer for consideration of criminal proceedings is generally made by the APVMA Chief Executive Officer or General Counsel. The decision is based on:

- assessment of the circumstances of the alleged offending against the criteria set out above
- consideration of public interest matters, recognising that the CDPP is best placed to make that determination.

Public interest considerations

The APVMA recognises the following:

'It has never been the rule in this country...that suspected criminal offences must automatically be the subject of prosecution. Indeed the very first Regulations under which the Director of Public Prosecutions worked provided that he should...prosecute 'wherever it appears that the offence or the circumstances of its commission is or are of such a nature that a prosecution in respect thereof is required in the public interest'. That is still the dominant consideration.' (Sir Hartley Shawcross QC, UK Attorney General and former Nuremberg trial prosecutor, speaking in the House of Commons on 29 January 1951, at p.3).

When considering the question of whether the commencement of criminal proceedings is in the public interest, the APVMA may take into account the following:

- The seriousness of the alleged offence including the impacts or potential impacts caused by the alleged offence.
- The degree of culpability of the alleged offender including any mitigating or aggravating circumstances (including notification, cooperation or a display of contrition).
- The availability and effectiveness of any alternatives to prosecution.
- The alleged offender's compliance history.
- Whether the alleged contravention is a continuing or subsequent offence.
- The prevalence of the alleged offence and the need for general deterrence.
- The length of time since the alleged offence occurred.

- The age and physical or mental health of the alleged offenders.
- Whether there are counter-productive features of the prosecution.
- In cases involving Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples use or management of natural resources, the views of the traditional owners of the area.
- The length and expense of any court hearing.
- The likely outcome in the event of a conviction having regard to the sentencing options available to the court.
- Any precedent which may be set by not instituting proceedings.
- Whether the consequences of a prosecution would be unduly harsh or oppressive.
- Whether proceedings are to be instituted against others arising out of the same incident.
- The sentencing principles in the jurisdiction in which the matter would be heard.
- The extent to which the alleged offender cooperates in the investigation or prosecution of other offenders.

In addition to the public interest factors, the decision to refer a matter to the CDPP will also take account of the principles of these Guidelines.

Choice of charges

The charges against an alleged offender must reflect the nature and extent of the conduct disclosed by the evidence, with the aim of providing a basis for the court to impose an appropriate penalty and make appropriate orders. There will be occasions where the same conduct is prohibited under separate statutes and involves an offence under each.

In circumstances where it would be inappropriate to lay multiple charges, the APVMA will refer a brief of evidence to the CDPP that fully discloses all of the evidence and potential offences. Where another prosecuting agency is involved, the APVMA will liaise with the other agency to ensure that this occurs.

The CDPP will independently determine the appropriate charges in respect of which to proceed.

Suspension or cancellation of licence, permit or authority

Legislation administered by the APVMA contains a list of grounds for the suspension or cancellation of approvals, registrations, permits, licences or authorities. These grounds might include a failure to perform administrative requirements, such as payment of fees or lodging of returns. They might also include the holder being convicted of an offence under that legislation or not meeting specified suitability criteria for the permit, licence or authority.

Payment of fees and levies due under legislation is a fundamental obligation of someone who holds an approval or registration from the APVMA. Holders who fail to pay fees and levies obtain a commercial advantage over their competitors and can undermine the legitimacy of the regulatory regime. Where legislation administered by the APVMA permits, the APVMA may suspend or cancel the relevant approval, registration, permit, licence or authority of a registrant with overdue fees or levies.

When deciding whether to cancel or suspend an approval, registration, licence, permit or authority, the requirements of the legislation will be complied with and the APVMA may consider the principles within these Guidelines.

The aim of cancellation or suspension of an approval, registration, permit, licence or authority is not punitive; rather, it is based on the need to protect the integrity of the legislative regime, and to protect humans, animals the environment and Australia's trade interests from the impact of unsafe or inefficacious agricultural and veterinary chemical products.